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U S. Departnment of Labor, Nashville, Tennessee,
for Petitioner;

WIlliamCraft, Assistant Director of Safety,
Pyro M ni ng Conpany, Sturgis, Kentucky, for
Respondent .

Bef or e: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Proceedi ngs

These proceedi ngs concern proposals for assessnment of civil
penalties filed by the petitioner against the respondent pursuant
to Section 110(a) of the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of
1977, 30 U.S.C. 820(a), seeking civil penalty assessnents for
five alleged violations of nandatory health standard 30 CFR
70. 220.

Respondent filed tinely contests taking issue with the
citations and pursuant to notice hearings were convened in
Evansvill e, Indiana, on Novenber 2, 1983, and the parties
appeared and participated fully therein. The parties waived the
filing of post-hearing witten argunents and nade themorally on
the record during the course of the hearing.

| ssues
The issues presented in these proceedings are (1) whether

respondent has violated the provisions of the Act and
i npl enenti ng mandatory standards as alleged in the proposals



~271

for assessnment of civil penalties filed in the proceedi ngs, and,
if so, (2) the appropriate civil penalties that should be
assessed agai nst the respondent for the alleged viol ati ons based
upon the criteria set forth in section 110(i) of the Act.
Addi ti onal issues raised by the parties at the hearing are

di scussed and di sposed of in the course of ny deci sions.

In determ ning the amount of a civil penalty assessment,
section 110(i) of the Act requires consideration of the foll ow ng
criteria: (1) the operator's history of previous violations, (2)
t he appropriateness of such penalty to the size of the business
of the operator, (3) whether the operator was negligent, (4) the
effect on the operator's ability to continue in business, (5) the
gravity of the violation, and (6) the denonstrated good faith of
the operator in attenpting to achi eve rapid conpliance after
notification of the violation

Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provi sions

1. The Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U S.C. [J801
et seq.

2. Section 110(a) of the Act, 30 U . S.C. [J820(a).
3. Commission Rules, 29 C.F.R [2700.1 et seq.
Di scussi on
KENT 83-186

Thi s proceedi ng concerns two section 104(a) citations served
on the respondent on Novenber 16, 1982, for violations of
mandat ory health standard 30 CFR 70. 220

Citation No. 2075605 describes the cited condition or
practice as foll ows:

The operator submitted the attached status change form
dated 10-18-82, showi ng mmu 011-1 nonproduci ng
effective 10-18-82. Production records show mmu 011-0
operated approximately 67 production shifts in 40 days
during the Sep.-Cct. 1982 cycle with an average
producti on of over 650 tons per shift. Included during
this period were at | east 9 production shifts on Cct.
26, 27, 28, 29, and 30, 1982. Al so records show mmu
011-1 has operated at |east 15 production shifts in 9
days during Nov. 1982 with an average production of
over 600 tons per shift. The attached computer
print-out dated 11-8-82 shows no respirabl e dust
sanmpl es were submitted for the Sep.-Cct. 1982 cycle.
Responsi bility of Tom Hughes Dust Tech
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Citation No. 2075606 describes the cited condition or practice as
fol | ows:

The operator submitted the attached status change form
dated 10-18-82, showi ng mmu 012-0 non- produci ng
effective 10-18-82. Production records show mmu 012-0
operated approximately 23 production shifts in 23 days
during the Sep.-Cct. 1982 cycle with an average
producti on of over 600 tons per shift. Included during
this period were at | east 9 production shifts on Cct.
20, 22, 23, 26, 28, 29, and 31, 1982. Al so records show
mmu 012-0 has operated at | east 5 production shifts in
3 days during Nov. 1982 with an average production of
over 630 tons per shift. Responsibility of Tom Hughes.

KENT 83-187

Thi s proceedi ng concerns three section 104(a) citations
served on the respondent on Novenber 16, 1982, for violations of
mandat ory health standard 30 CFR 70. 220

Citation No. 2075602, describes the cited condition or
practice as foll ows:

The operator submitted the attached status change form
dated 10-19-82, showi ng mu 003-0 i n abandoned st at us
effective 9-1-82. Production records show nmu 003-0
operated approximately 18 production shifts in 11 days
during the Sep.-Cct. 1982 cycle, with an average
producti on of over 700 tons per shift. The attached
conputer printout dated 11-8-82, shows no respirable
dust sanples were submitted for this cycle. Records
show citations for exceedi ng the dust standard were

i ssued for nmmu 003-0 no less than three times within
the past year. Responsibility of Dennis Travis Dust
Tech.

Citation No. 2075603 describes the cited condition or
practice as foll ows:

The operator submitted the attached status change form
dated 10-25-82, showi ng mmu 005-0 i n nonproducing
status effective 9-1-82. The status form al so states
the unit is spare, nonproduci ng, and has not run five
production shifts during the sanpling cycle. Production
records show nmmu 005-0 operated approxi mately 73
production shifts in 40 days during the Sep.-Cct. 1982
cycle with an average production of over 600 tons per
shift.
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The attached conputer printout, dated 11-8-82 shows no respirable
dust sanples were submitted for this cycle. Records show
citations for exceeding the dust standard were issued for mmu
005-0 no less than two tines within the past year. Responsibility
of Dennis Travis Dust Tech.

Citation No. 2075604 describes the cited condition or
practice as foll ows:

The operator submitted the attached status change form
dated 10-19-82, showi ng mmu 006-0 abandoned effective
9-1-82. Production records show mu 006-0 operated
approxi mately 21 production shifts in 13 days during
the Sep.-Cct. 1982 cycle with an average production of
over 750 tons per shift. the attached computer
printout, dated 11-8-82, shows no respirabl e dust
sanmples were submtted for this cycle. Records show at
| east one citation for exceeding the dust standard was
i ssued for mu 006-0 within the past year

Responsi bility of Dennis Travis, Dust Tech

Testinmony and evi dence. KENT 83-187.

MSHA I nspector Arthur L. Ridley, testified as to his
background and experience, and he stated that section 70.220 of
the mandatory standard requires that certain changes on the
status of certain coal producing and sanpling units be reported
to MBHA within three days of the tinme the change occurs He stated
t hat changes of producing units to nonproduci ng or tenporary
nonpr oduci ng, or abandoned areas nust be reported. He identified
exhibit P-1 as a status change form executed by respondent’'s m ne
techni ci an Dennis Travis showi ng that the mechanized m ning unit
at the Weatcroft Mne, No. 003 was placed in an abandoned status
effective Septenber 1, 1982, and that it was filled out and
signed by M. Travis on Cctober 19, 1983 (Tr. 17-20).

M. Ridley explained that a "nmechanized mning unit" in this
case consists of a certain amount of equi prment used for coa
producti on, such as a cutting machine, a |oadi ng nachi ne, and
shuttle cars, all of which are used in one set of roons for coa
producti on purposes. The exhibit in question is a form supplied
by MSHA, and section 70.220 requires that it be filled out by an
operator and filed with MSHA. The formin question came to his
office as a routine matter and he has previously exam ned the
original copy on file in his office. He saw no form previous to
the one filed in this case. He also confirnmed that exhibit P-1
page one, is a copy of Citation No. 2075602 issued by NMSHA
| nspect or
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Thomas M Lyl e, and he explained that such a citation would be
i ssued after a review of the status change formto ascertain
whether it was tinely filed (Tr. 24).

M. Ridley stated that the original citation issued by M.
Lyl e cont ai ned no negligence findings on the face of the form
but that he (Ridley) nodified the citation on January 7, 1983, to
i nclude a negligence finding. He stated that he made this finding
after reviewing the status formand finding that a nonth and a
hal f had gone by since the unit in question was reported
abandoned, and he believed that the respondent was negligent in
not submtting the formsooner (Tr. 25).

On cross-exam nation, M. Ridley confirmed that MSHA' s
regul ati ons do not require a mne operator to file a daily coa
production report for each coal producing unit (Tr. 29). He also
confirmed that while it is not a conmon practice for MSHA' s
health staff to delve into conpany production records, it has
been done in the past, but infrequently (Tr. 30). He al so
confirmed that an inspector is instructed to make any negligence

and gravity findings by filling out the appropriate places on the
citation format the tinme he issues the citation (Tr. 31). He
conceded that his nodification of the citation by filling out the

negl i gence portion of the citation formissued by Inspector Lyle
52 days after the initial service of the citation on the
respondent in this case "was a long period of time" (Tr. 32). M.
Ridl ey al so confirmed that his supervisor Charles E. Dukes
instructed himto nodify the citation to show a "hi gh degree of
negligence"” (Tr. 35). M. Ridley stated further that had he

i ssued the original citation, he would have nade the sane
negl i gence finding (Tr. 36).

M. Ridl ey explained that under MSHA's dust sanpling
procedures, an operator mnmust take five valid dust sanples within
each two nonth period (Tr. 37). He agreed that if the respondent
sanpl ed during the Septenber-Cctober sanple cycle and then
abandoned the unit on Septenber 25, he could legally do this
since the sanmple cycle had not run its course (Tr. 40).

Respondent' s testi nobny and evi dence

Dennis Travis, testified that he was famliar with the three
citations issued by MSHA I nspector Lyle on Novenber 16, 1982,
concerning the filing of the mne status change forns in
question. M. Travis confirnmed that he was enpl oyed as an
environnental health technician at respondent’'s Wheatcroft M ne.
Wth regard to Citation No. 2075602, M. Travis stated that m ne
records indicated that coal was produced on the
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unit in question during the first 10 days of Septenber, but not
after that date. Wen asked to explain the circunstances
surrounding the filing of the formin question, he responded as
follows (Tr. 56-57):

Well, com ng back to the 18th of Cctober | realized
that this production unit, 003-0 was not going to be
runni ng any longer and | knew that it had run a few
days in the nonth of Septenber which is the first nmonth
of the bi-monthly sanpling cycle. At that time | knew
that there would have to be sone sanples taken to
conmply with the respirable dust |aw which requires us
to submt five accurate sanples during a bi-nmonthly
period. | also knew that it was inpossible to do that
because the equi prent had been noved out of that area.
At that point, to keep fromeither receiving a
violation stating that I did not send in accurate
respirabl e dust sanples and to try to find out exactly
what needed to be done at this point because of the

abandonnent of the area, | called the MBHA Ofice in
Madi sonville to talk to the health specialist, the desk
speci al i st supervi sor which was M. Dukes. | felt that

M. Dukes would be the one to answer my questions since
he was the supervisor and--So | spoke to hi mabout the
matter, told himwhat the situation was, and | had a
few days in the first part of the sanpling cycle that
had produced coal on that unit but yet the unit

woul dn't be produci ng any | onger; and asked him at
that point, what needed to be done.

I knew that a status change form should be submitted,
felt like it should. And | asked himat that point if
that's what | should do. And he inforned ne, and
advised me to send in a status change form abandoni ng
the section and dating it at the begi nning of the

bi -monthly sanpling cycle to avoid any confusion. And
abandoning it at that point.

In response to further questions, M. Travis confirmed that
he submtted the formin question for Unit 003-0 on Cctober 19,
1982, but that the effective date of the status change was
Septenber 1. No formwas subnmitted during the period Septenber 1
t hrough Cctober 19, 1982, and when asked why he did not conply
with the three-day reporting requirenment of section 70.220, he
responded as follows (Tr. 61-62).
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A. 1 wasn't wanting to avoid taking sanples.

If the unit had been in production the |ast two
weeks of this nmonth the sanples woul d have been
taken, | was advi sed by the MSHA Supervi sor,

M. Dukes, to date it at that particular tine.

If | had dated it three days prior to the 19th of
Cct ober whi ch woul d' ve been 10/ 16--

Q Unh-hm

A.--then | could have been and probably woul d have been
cited for failure to submit sanples during that

bi -monthly sanpling cycle even though the unit was down
and abandoned, and the status change submitted at the
proper tine.

Q Okay. If 1 understand your testinony the unit was
not down during the period.

A. During the first eleven days, that's correct.

Q Soif it was producing during the first el even days,
wi t hdrawi ng of course, do you understand the bi-nonthly
cycle of respirable dust requirenments to dictate that
if you produce coal at all during the two nmonth period
you have to submit the sanples.

A. No, sir. | do not.

Q What do you understand that to require?

A. It has to be filed four shifts, four production
shifts, to be required to submt sanples during that
time.

Q At any tine during that period of tinmne.

A. That's correct.

Did you produce any five shifts?

Yes, sir.

During that tinme?

Yes, sir.

And did you submit any respirable dust sanples?

> O » O > O

No, sir.
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M. Travis confirmed that mning unit 003-3 was pernmanently
abandoned on Cctober 17 or 18, 1982, and that from Septenber 11

1982, until it was abandoned it was in a "technically tenporarily
abandoned" status. Although the unit was not producing coa
during this tine, the equipnent was still there, the area was

being ventilated, and M. Travis characterized the unit as a
"spare" to be used "as needed" (Tr. 63).

Respondent's counsel asserted that all of the remaining
citations at issue in these proceedi ngs concern the sane factua
setting (Tr. 86). MSHA's counsel confirmed that Citation No.
2075603, exhibit P-3, concerns a nmine status change form
submtted by M. Travis on Cctober 25, 1982, and the form shows
that the 005-0 mining unit in question was "nonproduci ng"
ef fective Septenber 1, 1982. MSHA counsel took the position that
the form shoul d have been filed by Septenber 4, 1982, and he al so
asserted that M. Ridley nodified this citation, and that if
called to testify he would confirmthat he received the sane
instructions to mark if "high negligence,” and that the reason he
did so was because of the tinme | apse from Septenber 1 to October
25, 1982 (Tr. 87-89).

Respondent' s counsel confirmed that the 005-0 unit was in
fact nonproduci ng on Septenber 1, 1982, and that it was in the
same status as the previously cited unit. He explained that the
m ne was bei ng abandoned in order to start a new mine, and the
mning units in question were being noved around while
renovati ons and overcasts were being constructed (Tr. 89). He
conceded that the notation on the citations that a search of
conpany records reflected that there were 73 production shifts
during a forty-day period during Septenber and Cct ober 1982 "were
probably right" (Tr. 90). He also confirmed that the 005-0 m ning
unit consisted of five pieces of equipnment (shuttle car, cutting
machi ne, | oadi ng machine, reel, and roof bolter), and that this
unit was assigned to the cited mne |ocation to produce coal (Tr.
91).

MSHA' s counsel identified exhibit P-4 as a copy of Gtation
No. 2075604, issued by Inspector Lyle on Novenber 16, 1982. The
citation states that the required MSHA change form was dat ed
Cct ober 19, 1982, indicating that mning unit 006-0 was abandoned
effective Septenber 1, 1982. The formsubnmitted by M. Travis
identifies the "unit" as "designated occupation code 036," which
is for the "high risk™ continuous mner operator (Tr. 115-116).
Respondent' s counsel confirmed that the section where the m ner
had been operated was abandoned, and the m ner nmachi ne was noved
somepl ace el se (Tr. 117). Respondent's counsel also indicated
that if called to testify, M. Travis would explain the
circunmstances as follows (Tr. 117-119):
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JUDGE KQUTRAS: So you abandoned the 006-0
section where this mner was operating?

MR, CRAFT: Yes, sir.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: And that's a change in the status of the
mne, isn't it?

MR, CRAFT: Yes, sir.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: It is also a change in the status of
that particular mning machine, is it not?

MR CRAFT: Yes, sir.
JUDGE KOQUTRAS: It was noved sonepl ace el se?
VR CRAFT: Yes, sir.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: And on both of those changes in status
with both the m ne where the coal was being mned to
when it was abandoned and the continuous m ner being
noved sonepl ace el se, that mner wasn't abandoned, it
was sinmply rerouted somepl ace el se. That's also a
change in status isn't it?

MR CRAFT: Yes, sir.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Both of those circunstances have to be
reported on the 70.220, do they not?

MR, CRAFT: According to | aw

JUDGE KOUTRAS: kay. Now, let's say you' ve got this
one. Is it the sane type of a thing?

MR, CRAFT: Exactly. If you call M. Travis back to the
stand he will tell you exactly what he told you before.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: |Is that M. Travis didn't know that
006-0 section was abandoned, they were not m ning coal,
he didn't know that the continuous mning machi ne was
bei ng noved sonepl ace el se.

MR CRAFT: M. Travis--
JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Wien he finally |l earned that he picked

up the phone and called MSHA. |Is that what he's
testifying to?
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MR CRAFT: M. Travis will tell you that
the status while we were starting these two
m nes and abandoni ng these two nmines we swapped
equi prent around |ike a yo-yo.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: He did that.

MR, CRAFT: He would do exactly |like you said. When he
| earned of it he would call MSHA, that's exactly what
he did.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: On this particular citation, is this the
case?

MR CRAFT: Yes, sir.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: He didn't know that this continuous
m ni ng machi ne was bei ng noved out.

MR, CRAFT: He didn't know when. They only ran, |I'msure
you have, they ran the first 13 days of Septenber, they
didn't run anynore. He didn't know that they woul dn't
be running until managenent told himwe' ' re nmoving it
out, abandon the section. We're nmoving it and it won't
be back.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: And you didn't know then you were going
to nmove the 006-0.

MR, CRAFT: He woul dn't have any way of know ng. The
heal th specialist doesn't nmanage the coal mnes. He
wor ks, he superintends the m nes.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: Well, maybe you ought to give the
responsibility of filling out these forns to sonmebody
el se other than M. Travis.

Testinmony and evi dence. KENT 83-186.

MSHA' s counsel identified exhibits P-5 and P-6 as copi es of
Citations 2075605 and 2075606, and copies of the MSHA m ne status
change forms in support of the citations. The parties agreed that
I nspector Ridley nodified these citations to indicate a "high
degree of negligence,” and that if called to testify he would
confirmthat |Inspector Lyle nmade no such negligence findings, and
that M. Ridley nodified the citations on instructions by his
supervisor M. Dukes (Tr. 140-142).
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Exhibit P-7 is a conmputer print-out of the history of prior
citations for respondent's No. 11 Mne, and by agreenment of the
parties it was nade a part of the record (Tr. 142). MSHA' s
counsel agreed that his case in this docket was being submtted
as a "docunmentary case,"” and the parties nade the foll ow ng
argunents in support of their case (Tr. 143-147):

MR, STEWART: Your Honor, the theory is that the Pyro
M ni ng Conpany, No. 11 mne, failed to submt a status
change subsequent to the ones that are associated with
citation 205 which indicates that the m ne was
abandoned on, | believe, on October 18th; and with
respect to citation 606 showi ng that the m ne was
abandoned, that the mining unit was abandoned on
Cctober 18th. In fact it recites that coal was produced
subsequent to those days on nunmerous shifts, and we
shoul d' ve been notified that it was not in a producing
st at us.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: kay. M. Craft, what say you about
these two citations?

MR, CRAFT: Basically, your Honor, when they were
abandoned, they were abandoned. They weren't producing
18, 19, 20, 21, 22; and the fact that the negligence
wasn't checked till 52 days later. And that they were
termnated five mnutes, the one in question was

term nated, witten at 9:10 and term nated at 9:20.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: And the other one was witten at 9: 30
and term nated at 9:45

MR, CRAFT: That's right, your Honor

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: And again | take it that M. Stewart can
you explain why the time frames are so short here? Is
it that once the citation was served the operator
submitted the report. It says on here, correct status
change formwas placed in the back and production
status was filed. Is that--Now wait a mnute--WII| be
submtted in the shifts.

MR STEWART: WII| be submtted. Yes.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Have the reports been submtted, do you
know?

MR, STEWART: To nmy mind they have been
JUDGE KOQUTRAS: kay. And do you dispute the fact that

these units were in production as noted on the
condition of practice here, M. Stewart, M. Craft.
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MR, CRAFT: Your Honor, I'd like to clarify
one point. On these term nations, he wote
the citation on 11/16/82 on 605. Right?

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: On what ? Yes, okay.

MR, CRAFT: On his term nation he says, "the correct
status change form placing MMJ 011 back in the
produci ng status 11/15." If we woul d've submtted that
formon 11/15, the citation shouldn't have been witten
on 11/16. He wote the citation on 11/16 and he
termnated it on the sane. We submitted in on 11/15.
That woul d' ve been a case where he coul d' ve cited us
for as being late.

MR, STEWART: Your Honor, there is no provision for
being late. The status says that he didn't submt it
within three days of the change of status. The face of
the citations indicates that coal was being produced--

MR CRAFT: But, your Honor--
MR, STEWART: --two weeks prior to Novenmber 15th

MR, CRAFT: The problemis, your Honor, that is he
subm tted the status change on 11/15, why were we cited
on 11/167?

MR, STEWART: Your Honor, it's the sane argunment that he
proves in the subsequent proceeding. That the status
change was submitted on Cctober 19th and he went and
wasn't cited till Novenmber sonething. | don't think
that that goes to whether there was a violation or not.

MR, CRAFT: Wien M. Ridley nodified it for high
negl i gence he shoul d've nodified the term nation point.

JUDGE KOQUTRAS: kay. But do you dispute the fact that
these units were in fact in production on the dates
stated on the face of these citations?

MR, CRAFT: | don't dispute the facts that they were in
production. | contend that they were stand-by units and
we were acting under instructions from MSHA
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JUDGE KOUTRAS: On instructions from MBHA to
do what ?

MR, CRAFT: To submit the form you know, because of the
stand-by units and then put it in that status until we

got it plumb out and then abandon it pernmanently which

we did later.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: kay. Anything further? Do you wish to
present any evi dence on these?

MR CRAFT: No, sir.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: On these citations. Do you have anything
else M. Stewart?

MR, STEWART: No, your Honor
Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Fact of Violations
Section 70.220 states in pertinent part as foll ows:

(a) If there is a change in the operational status that
affects the respirable dust sanpling requirenents of
this part, the operator shall report the change in
operational status of the m ne, mechanized m ning unit,
or designated area to the MSHA District Ofice or to
any other MSHA District O fice designated by the
District Manager. Status changes shall be reported in
witing within 3 working days after the status change
has occurred. (Enphasis added).

Section 70.220(b) defines each specific "operational status”
which is required to be reported for (1) the mne, (2) the
mechani zed mining unit, or (3) the designated area. These genera
categories are further reduced to define whether they are
"produci ng," "nonproducing," or "abandoned."

Each of the five citations in these proceedi ngs charge the
respondent with failure to timely report the status of certain
desi gnat ed nmechani zed mning units ("mu's"). The citations were
i ssued by MSHA Inspector Thonas M Lyle, and at the tine of the
hearings in these cases he was unavail able for testinony because
he was on disability sick | eave. The informati on on which M.
Lyl e based his citations was furni shed by MSHA | nspector Robert
Smith. M. Smith was not present at the hearings because he was
attendi ng an MSHA training class at Beckley, Wst Virginia.
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In each instance noted above, Inspector Lyle issued his citations

because the status change fornms which were in fact filed by the
respondent's representative on Cctober 18, 19, and 25, 1982,
reported that the nechanized mning units in questions were
ei t her "nonproduci ng® or "abandoned" when in fact MSHA had reason
to believe they were operational and producing coal. NMSHA' s
support for its assertion that the units were produci ng coal cane
froma search and review of certain conmpany production records
apparently volunteered to Inspector Smith, as well as certain
MSHA records indicating that dust sanples were not filed for the
units in question, or that the respondent was out of conpliance
during certain sanpling cycles. In short, MSHA' s position seens
to be that (1) the nechani zed units reported as nonproduci ng or
abandoned were in fact producing, and (2) the respondent here has
filed erroneous reports.

Respondent's defense to the violations is based on its
assertions that the cited mining units in question were not
technically in production, but were somehow "tenporarily
abandoned” or on "standby" to be used periodically when the need
arose. Respondent advanced the argunent that the term
"nonpr oduci ng" neans the sane as "abandoned,"” and that it did not
report the status changes in question because it did not know for
sure whet her any particular unit would be pernmanently abandoned
or sinmply idled while other m ne work was being done (Tr. 63,
65) .

Respondent' s dust technician Dennis Travis, the individua
who filed the reports in question, as well as respondent's trial
representative Wlliam Craft, conceded that the failure to file
the required changes within the three-day regul atory period when
the sections in question were in fact in production constituted
vi ol ati ons of section 70.220 (Tr. 60-66; 92-95; 106-107;
117-119).

Fromthe record in this case, | am convinced that the
respondent contested the citations because it believed that
MSHA' s enforcenent office acted arbitrarily when it subjected the
citations to the "special assessments" procedures. Respondent's
testinmony in its defense suggests that M. Travis nay have been
msled into believing that the status reports could be filed when
he filed them and that contrary to MSHA' s position, M. Travis
acted reasonably and in good faith. However, these are mtigating
ci rcunst ances, and when taken in conjunction with other
mtigating circunstances as discussed bel ow, may be consi dered by
me in the assessnment of civil penalties for the violations.
However, it seens clear that these mitigating circunstances may
not serve as an absolute defense to the citations, nor may they
serve as a basis for outright dismssal of the citations.
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After careful review and consideration of all of the credible
testinmony and evi dence adduced in these proceedi ngs, | conclude
and find that the petitioner has established by a preponderance
of the evidence that the respondent violated the provisions of
mandat ory standard 30 CFR 70.220, by failing to accurately report
the fact that the status of the cited nmechanized mning units had
changed. Failure to report such changes within the three-day
peri od provided by the regulatory standard constitutes a
viol ation. Accordingly, the five citations in question are al
AFFI RVED

H story of Prior Violations

The history of prior paid assessnents for the respondent's
No. 11 Mne is reflected in the conputer print-out, exhibit P-7
(KENT 83-186). The mine history for respondent's \Weatcroft M ne
is shown in exhibit P-2 (KENT 83-187). For the periods April 7
and June 18, 1981, through Novenber 15, 1982, neither m ne had
ever been cited for failure to conply with the reporting
requi renents found in section 70.220, and Inspector Ridley
confirmed that this is in fact the case (Tr. 128-129).

The conputer print-outs reflect that the No. 11 M ne had 12
prior citations for violations of sections 70.207(a) or 208(a),
t he standards dealing with binonthly sanpling of mechanized
mning units and certain designated areas. Wth the exception of
one $60 assessnent, the rest were "single penalty" $20
assessnents. The Wieatcroft Mne was cited for three violations
of section 70.207(a), and one violation of section 70.208(a), and
all of these were "single penalty" $20 assessnents.

In addition to the above-nentioned citations, the conputer
print-out reflects ten total prior citations at both mnes for
viol ations of the respirable dust standards found in section
70.100. However, since no evidence was adduced as to the facts
and circunstances surroundi ng any of these prior dust citations,
| have no way of evaluating whether the mnes in question have a
dust problem or whether or not the respondent has failed to
attend to these conditions. However, | do note the fact that the
15 dust citations noted above were anong a total of 273 citations
i ssued during the period shown on the print-outs. Taken at face
val ue, and considering the size of both m ning operations, I
cannot concl ude that respondent’'s prior conpliance record is such
as to warrant any additional increases in the civil penalties
whi ch | have assessed for the citations in questions. Further
the petitioner has advanced no credible arguments or presented
any evidence to establish anything to the contrary.
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Gavity

Al t hough I nspector Lyle did not consider any of the
violations to be "significant or substantial," and the special
assessnment officer found that the gravity of each violation was
"nonserious,"” the "narrative findings" supporting the initial
assessnments not only took into accound the subm ssion of
"erroneous status change reports,” but specifically took into
account "the failure of the operator to take the dust sanples
requi red during periods of active mning." Because of this
asserted "failure,” MSHA's assessnent officer concluded that
during the period of active mning "excessively dusty conditions
were allowed to go undetected” and that this in turn "could have
allowed the mners to be continuously exposed to excessive
concentrations of respirable dust."

VWhile it is true sonme of the citations make reference to the
fact that the respondent did not submt dust sanples for severa
sanmpling cycles during the production shifts in question, and
that several mining units had been cited for being out of
conpliance during the year preceding the citations in questions,
petitioner presented no credible testinmony to establish or
support any concl usion that "excessively dusty conditions were
allowed to go undetected." Further, the inspector who issued the
citations made sone rather low gravity findings on the face of
all of the citations, and since he did not testify, | reject the
petitioner's reliance on specul ati ve second-guessing by its
assessnent office as stated in the "narrative findings."

It seens clear to ne that the reporting requirenents of
section 70.220, are intended to provide MSHA with "tracking
i nformati on" so as to insure conpliance with the applicabl e dust
standards found in Part 70 of its regulations. Since the use and
| ocation of mning equipment at any given tine in the m ning
environnent are critical in determ ning the potential respirable
dust | evels and exposures for certain critical occupations, NMSHA
has to be able to track the novenment and use of such equi pment in
order to determ ne whether its dust standards are being conplied
with. However, in the instant cases there is no credible
testimony or evidence to establish that the failure to accurately
report the changes required by the cited standard in fact had a
serious inpact on mners. Accordingly, | have no basis for
finding or concluding that the gravity of the violations is such
as to warrant any additional increases in the penalties assessed
by me for the citations.

However, given the rationale for requiring such reports, |
do find that the citations were serious.



~286
Negl i gence

During the course of arguments during the hearing,
petitioner's counsel suggested that the respondent may have
placed itself in a position of reporting certain status changes
wel | after the three-day reporting deadli ne because it did not
want to continue taking certain dust sanples during the required
sanmpl e cycle. In short, counsel inplied that the respondent "took
the I esser of two evils" because it was attenpting to avoid a
dust sanpling cycle which may have shown the mines to be out of
conpli ance. Respondent's representative vigorously denied any
such suggesti on.

After scrutiny of the record in this case, | find no
credible testinony or evidence to establish that the respondent
was attenpting to circunvent or avoid the respirabl e dust
requirenents found in Part 70 of MSHA's regul ations. Further, if
the petitioner believed this was the case, it was incunbent on
counsel to produce the witnesses to support such a proposition
Since it did not, | have ignored any such suggesti ons.

In each of the citations originally issued by |nspector
Lyl e, he made no negligence findings on the face of the
citations. That is, he did not check any of the boxes provided in
item 20 of the citation form The boxes contain five degrees of
negl i gence ranging from "none" to "reckless disregard.” The
record here establishes that the citations were subsequently
nodi fied 52 days later to reflect a "high" degree of negligence,
and as a result of that the citations were "specially assessed"
by MSHA' s assessment office, with the resulting civil penalty
nonetary assessnent of $300 for each citation, totalling $1500.

Inspector Ridley testified that he nodified the citations
i ssued by M. Lyle on January 7, 1983, sone 52 days after they
were issued, and he did so at the specific direction of
supervi sing MSHA | nspector Charles Dukes. M. Ridley stated that
M. Dukes instructed himto nodify the citations to show a "high
degree of negligence."” Wen asked why M. Dukes did not issue the
nodi fications hinmself, no explanation was forthcom ng, and M.
Ridl ey confirnmed that the nodifications were mailed to the
respondent. | find M. Ridley's assertion that he woul d have nmade
an i ndependent judgnment that the respondent exhibited a high
degree of negligence to be self-serving, and they are rejected.

Respondent argued that the manner in which the citations
were nodified in these proceedings was unfair and arbitrary since
they were issued sone 52 days after the citations were
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i ssued. Further, respondent asserted that M. Ridley's

nodi fications indicating that the respondent's negligence was
hi gh were not based on M. R dley's personal eval uation and that
M. Ridley sinply carried out a direct order fromhis supervisor
to amend and nodify the citations. As a result of this,
respondent asserted that all of the citations were "specially
assessed. "

MSHA' s | nspector Manual Guidelines requires an inspector to
conpl ete the appropriate "lInspector's Statenent” portion of the
citation formto be conpleted as soon as possible during the sane
day when the violation is cited. The instructions advise that the
i nspector should fill in the portion of the statenent which
relates to gravity and negligence while the facts are fresh in
his mnd. The instructions also state that failure to adequately
docunent the Inspector's statenent will result in assessnents
that are inaccurate, either too high or too |l ow, and thus
i nef fective.

Based on all of the testinmony and evidence presented at the
hearings in these cases it is ny opinion that the statenment nade
in MSHA's Narrative Findings for a Special Assessnent that "the
proposed penalty reflects the results of an objective and fair
apprai sal of all the facts presented" is sinply not so. The
sequence of events leading to the issuance of the citations
| eaves nuch to be desired. One inspector issued the citations
based on record searches made by a second inspector. Athird
i nspector nodifies the citations based on direct orders froma
fourth i nspector who happens to be his direct supervisor
Further, there is no rational explanation as to why the first
i nspector nade no negligence findings as required by MSHA s
I nspector's Manual Quidelines (exhibit R-1), nor is there any
expl anation as to why M. Dukes did not nodify the citations
hinsel f. The record reflects that he is an authorized inspector
and has the authority to issue citations.

During the course of oral argunments in this case
respondent's representative suggested that Supervisory Inspector
Dukes' role in the nodification of the citations, as well as the
instructions given to M. Travis as to when he should file the
reports which resulted in the citations, was sonehow out of
retaliation for sone personal grudge which M. Dukes purportedly
harbored toward the respondent (Tr. 133-138). Respondent's
representative was rem nded fromthe bench that | view such
accusations as serious matters, and that any suggestion that any
MSHA of ficial may have acted inproperly should be directed to
t hat agency.
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In view of the foregoing, and on the basis of all of the credible
testinmony of record in these proceedings, | conclude that the
violations resulted fromthe respondent's failure to take
reasonabl e care to insure that the status fornms in question were
timely filed. Wihile the record suggests that M. Travis may have
acted in good faith and may have been nmisled or m staken as to
what was required of him | am not convinced that m ne nanagenent
was totally oblivious as to the requirenents of the regul ations.
I find that the citations all resulted from ordi nary negligence
by the respondent, and this is reflected in the civil penalties
whi ch | have assessed for the violations.

Good Faith Conpliance

The citations issued by Inspector Lyle reflect that
abat ement and conpliance was achi eved the same day the citations
i ssued, and that this was done by the respondent filing "up to
date" status change fornms to accurately reflect the status of the
mning units in question. Accordingly, | find that the violations
were rapidly abated prior to the time fixed by Inspector Lyle,
and this is reflected in the penalties assessed by ne for the
vi ol ati ons.

Si ze of Business and Effect of Cvil Penalties on the
Respondent's Ability to Continue in Business.

Aside from sone testinony that certain sections of the mne
i n question may have had a daily production of 700 tons, and that
MSHA's "narrative statenent” in support of the proposed
assessnents makes some nebul ous references to the size of the
m ne and Pyro M ning Conpany, there is no direct testinony or
evidence in this case as the coal production or size of
respondent's Weatcroft M ne. However, based on testinony
presented in another proceeding where these parties and counse
were present (Docket KENT 83-101, heard Novenber 2, 1983, in
Evansvill e, Indiana), | conclude and find that the respondent is
a fairly large mne operator and that the penalties assessed by
me in these proceedings will not adversely affect its ability to
continue in business.

Penal ty Assessnents

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and
taking into account the requirenments of Section 110(i) of the
Act, | conclude and find that the following civil penalty
assessnents are appropriate for the citations which have been
affirnmed:

Docket No. KENT 83-186

Citation No. Dat e 30 CFR Section Assessnent
2075605 11/ 16/ 82 70. 220 $75
2075606 11/ 16/ 82 70. 220 $75

Docket No. KENT 83-187



Citation No. Dat e 30 CFR Section Assessnent

2075602 11/ 16/ 82 70. 220 $75
2075603 11/ 16/ 82 70. 220 $75
2075604 11/ 16/ 82 70. 220 $75



~289
CORDER

Respondent 1S ORDERED to pay the civil penalties assessed
above in the anobunts shown for each of the citations, and paynent
is to be made to the petitioner within thirty (30) days of the
date of these decisions. Upon receipt of paynent, these
proceedi ngs are di sm ssed.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Admi ni strative Law Judge



